
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AIRDRIE-BATHGATE RAILWAY AND LINKED IMPROVEMENTS BILL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Hearing held at 
Best Western Hilcroft Hotel, Whitburn, Nr Bathgate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tuesday, 30 January 2007 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Group 31 
 

Mr and Mrs Donald 
Andrew Mackie 
Mrs M Ferguson 

Mary Dugan 
Mr and Mrs Riddell 

Jamie Ross and Lynne Abbott 
M Weir and J Weir 
William Peacock 

 
 



Airdrie-Bathgate Railway and Linked Improvements Bill 
 

Hearing held on 
Tuesday, 30 January 2007 

 
Group 31 

Mr and Mrs Donald 
Andrew Mackie 
Mrs M Ferguson 

Mary Dugan 
Mr and Mrs Riddell 

Jamie Ross and Lynne Abbott 
M Weir and J Weir 
William Peacock 

 
Assessor:  Professor Hugh Begg 
 
Clerk to the Inquiry: Mr Fergus Cochrane 
 
For the Promoter: Mr Jonathan Lake 
Witnesses:  Ms Karen Gribben 

  Ms Jackie McLean 
  Dr Bernadette McKell 
  Mr Andy Irwin 
  Mr Keith Sheridan 
  Mr Craig Mitchell 
  Ms Alison Gorlov  
 

For the Objectors: Mr Hamish Donald 
   Mr Andrew Mackie 
   Mr Andrew Riddell 
   Mr William Peacock    
 
    
[Group 31 commenced at 19.20 pm] 
 
Assessor:  Good evening ladies and gentlemen.  Our third group today is Group 31 

relating to the following objections, those by Mrs M Ferguson, Mr and Mrs 
Donald, Mary Bernadette Dugan, Andrew Mackie, Mr and Mrs Riddell, James 
Ross and Lynne Abbott, M Weir and J Weir and William Peacock.  The Group 
has submitted written evidence relating to all objections, bar that of 
Jamie Ross and Lynne Abbott, and accordingly we will deal with the topics 
still in dispute as outlined in that evidence that has been received from the 
Group.  I understand that the Group will be represented by Mr Andrew Mackie 
and Mr Donald, but there is a support team in the wings, Mr Peacock and 
Mr Riddell.  Thank you.   

 
 There are seven issues still in dispute.  The first issue is noise and vibration 

and I have noted that the witnesses for the Promoter were to be 
Karen Gribben, Jackie McLean, Dr McKell, Andy Irwin and Hugh Wark.  I 
understand that Mr Wark has had to leave us.  It is regrettable that contrary to 
the wish of the Bill Committee he did not manage to provide a note indicating 
his absence to my Clerk, but nonetheless I am perfectly happy at this stage 
that Mr Keith Sheridan is a substitute for him.    
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Mr Lake:  I am grateful for that, it is a matter I should have raised before he left and I 
am sorry about that. 

 
Assessor:  Before I invite Mr Lake to question his witnesses perhaps I could invite 

one of the witnesses as usual to give a brief outline.   
 
Mr Lake:   Thank you very much.  Perhaps I could ask Mr Sheridan, as he is here, 

first, could we identify the sheets maps, plans and sections, on which we 
would find all the objections bar Miss Abbott and Mr Ross? 

 
Mr Sheridan:   Sheet 40.    
 
Mr Lake:   If you can identify a number at the end of Birniehill Avenue and a further 

two on Whitburn Road. 
A. Yes. 
 
Q. Then in respect of Mr Ross and Miss Abbott, you will find their property over 

on Sheet 41. 
A. Yes. 
 
Q. Dealing first with the properties that can be found on Sheet 40 what is the 

relationship between the various properties in general and the work proposed 
in Whitburn? 

A. Do you want me to make a general statement of all?   
 
Q. If you could try and take it in a general sense, there is a certain amount of 

commonality; if you find it more convenient to do it individually by all means. 
A. Mrs Ferguson: the Objector’s property comprises  Whitburn Road, Bathgate.  

No land is being acquired from the Objector.  The Objector’s property abuts 
the Limit of Deviation of Work No. 1 (Railway). 

 
 Mr and Mrs Donald:  the Objector’s property comprises  Whitburn Road, 

Bathgate.  No land is being acquired from the Objector.  The Objector’s 
property abuts the Limit of Deviation of Work No. 1 (Railway). 

 
 Mrs Dugan:  the Objector’s property comprises  Birniehill Avenue, Bathgate, 

located to the south of Work No. 1 (Railway) and to the west of Works Nos. 
39A (Temporary Road) and 39B (Road).  Land with a right in common with 
other residents of Birniehill Avenue is being acquired temporarily for working 
space (Plot 723) and permanently (Plot 724) for Works Nos. 39A and 39B.  
The proposals route the relocated cycle path along Birniehill Avenue. 

 
 That is replicated for Mr Mackie, whose residence is  Birniehill Avenue, 

Bathgate. 
 
 Mr and Mrs Riddell:  the Objector’s property comprises  Birniehill Avenue, 

Bathgate located to the south of Work No. 1 (Railway) and to the west of 
Works Nos. 39A (Temporary Road) and 39B (Road).  Land with a right in 
common with other residents of Birniehill Avenue is being acquired 
temporarily for working space (Plot 723) and permanently (Plot 724) for 
Works Nos. 39A (Temporary Road) and 39B (Road).  The Objector’s property 
abuts Work No. 2S (cycle path).  The Proposals route the relocated cycle 
path along Birniehill Avenue. 
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 Jamie Ross and Lynne Abbott:  the Objector’s property comprises  King 
Street, Bathgate located adjacent to the existing operational Bathgate to 
Edinburgh railway, approximately 100 metres north-east of Work No. 1 
(Railway).  No land is being acquired from the Objector.  Plots 781 and 782A 
are adjacent to the Objector’s property and are being temporarily acquired for 
the purpose of a construction compound and working space.   

 
 M Weir and J Weir:  the Objector’s property comprises  and  Birniehill Avenue, 

Bathgate located to the south of Work No. 1 (Railway) and to the west of 
Works Nos. 39A (Temporary Road) and 39B (Road).  The Objector’s property 
abuts Works Nos 1 (Railway) and 2S (cycle path).  Land with a right in 
common with other residents of Birniehill Avenue is being acquired 
temporarily for working space (Plot 723) and permanently (Plot 724) for 
Works Nos. 39A (Temporary Road) and 39B (Road).  The Proposals route 
the relocated cycle path along Birniehill Avenue.  

 
 Mr Peacock:  the Objector’s property comprises  Birniehill Avenue, Bathgate 

located to the south of Work No. 1 (Railway) and to the west of Works Nos. 
39A (Temporary Road) and 39B (Road).  Land with a right in common with 
other residents of Birniehill Avenue is being acquired temporarily for working 
space (Plot 723) and permanently (Plot 724) for Works Nos. 39A (Temporary 
Road) and 39B (Road).  The Proposals route the relocated cycle path along 
Birniehill Avenue. 

 
Q. Thank you, Mr Sheridan.  Having in mind the first issue that is raised which is 

noise and vibration, we turn to Ms Gribben and ask has there been any 
development beyond the position stated in the Promoter’s report? 

 
Ms Gribben:  Yes, I’m pleased to report there has been.  We had a very constructive 

meeting with the residents on 16 January.  This has culminated in some 
further discussions today. I have been asked to confirm four commitments 
which the Promoter has given which the residents have chosen to accept 
which address a number of their concerns.  

 
The first commitment is to make it clear that the Promoter will use all 
reasonable practical means to provide mitigation if it proves to be necessary 
on further evaluation of the residents’ individual homes.  To make clear as 
part of that process, we will engage with the individual property owners to 
take into account all the personal circumstances that we wish to make 
available so as to inform further evaluation of the mitigation measures 
appropriate for the property, and to take that into account and to share with 
them the information so that they understand what we are proposing to do.   
 
Also, to consider as part of that process representations regarding the use of 
natural screening to address concerns regarding loss of privacy and the noise 
and vibration issues.   
 
Finally, to make it clear that to the extent that we have to remove any trees, 
there are a number of properties with very mature trees along that location, 
that we will not replace them with £1 saplings.  I am pleased to make it clear 
that is certainly not what we will do.  We will provide something of equivalent 
maturity.  We can’t guarantee they will be 25-year old trees but they will be 
something suitable for the circumstances.  

 
Assessor:  Thank you.   
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Mr Lake:  As far as you are aware are these undertakings satisfactory to the 

residents to whom you have spoken? 
A. Yes, that has been confirmed to me.  
   
Mr Mackie:  If I could just make it clear there the phrase was ‘best possible means’ 

to provide mitigation not ‘reasonable’. 
 
Ms Gribben: Best possible means, sorry, you are right.  It is quite simple the 

commitment is you asked me to say that we will do our best for you using 
everything that is reasonably practicable. 

 
Assessor:  I do have a question on noise and vibration, it is perfectly simple and is 

one which was raised in Group 31’s written evidence, they make the 
comment that a train may be slowing down on the approach to Bathgate 
station, has braking from the train been factored into the noise assessment? 

 
Dr McKell:  At the time that the train is passing Birniehill the speed is high, so the 

way the prediction methodology works is you take into account a speed for 
that section of the track.  If we had to take into account noise of the train 
slowing down it would reduce the impact, so it is very much a worse case 
scenario with the high speed at that section of the track.  

 
Q. I see, so there is no screeching or anything like that? 
A. There shouldn’t be screeching.  
 
Assessor:  Does the group representative have any questions on noise and 

vibration? 
 
Mr Mackie:  No, we accept what is presented here thank you.  
 
Assessor:  Thank you.  We can move on to the next matter.   
 
[Witnesses change over] 
 
Mr Lake:   Once again I will address my question to Ms Gribben.  The undertakings 

you have already articulated, are these intended to cover the issue of loss of 
amenity, visual impact, privacy and loss of vegetation also? 

 
Ms Gribben:  They are. 
 
Mr Lake:  I have no further questions, sir, thank you very much.   
 
Assessor:  There are no questions here.  Any further questions or have matters 

been dealt with to your satisfaction as far as the answers given to the 
previous topic were concerned? 

 
Mr Mackie:  I think the Network Rail team were fine on this.  The residents appear to 

be advocating the development of a natural screen of trees and shrubs to 
hide the trains, reduce noise and pollution and encourage wild life.  That 
encapsulates what we want and they are also recognising that the screening 
should be used in addition to the acoustic measures that they already have in 
mind.   

 

Fiona Shipley Transcription Ltd 5



Q. The arrangements which have been made with the Promoter are such that 
you are satisfied with them? 

A. I am satisfied with that and also that they are looking after our feathered and 
furry friends, even if they didn’t put in an official complaint! 

 
Assessor:  Let’s move on.  The next one is reduction in property value. 
 
Mr Lake:  Miss Gorlov is saying the question of the reduction in property value is one 

assessed in the provisions of the Bill in terms of compensation. 
 
Ms Gorlov:  That’s right.  In the unhappy event that there is a reduction in property 

value, then that will be covered by a compensation claim.  
 
Q.   While it might be hoped that this has included some of the issues to which 

there have been given undertakings on how to avoid the situation in which 
there is a reduction in the value of the properties. 

A.  Yes. 
 
Q.  Thank you very much, any questions on this one? 
 
Mr Donald:  What’s ‘hope’?  It is not meant to be a glib question but what’s hope?  

They hope there is a not property devaluation.  How do we know it is not 
going to be because of the railway? 

 
Assessor:  Miss Gorlov, I am sure, will tell us there is nothing certain in this life. 
 
Miss Gorlov:  Well yes, I don’t want to be the prophet of doom because I am not, but 

the truth of the matter is that one can’t be certain.  It is possible that the result, 
notwithstanding all the mitigation that this is put in it maybe that there is a 
reduction in property value.  If that happens, it is, as I said, thoroughly 
unfortunate and understood to be really rather distressing for all concerned, 
particularly for the Objectors here and for any other similar affected 
householder.  Unfortunately there is nothing to be done about that except not 
to build the railway.  We are here to build the railway, Parliament approves 
the railway, it is a natural, logical consequence of that, but if these unhappy 
events occur then they will have to be made good by money because that is 
all that can be provided. 

 
Assessor:  But there will be an opportunity to have them made good by money and 

that should give you further comfort. 
 
Mr Donald:  It is the process of it that is the issue for people in Group 31.  I know 

they talk about the Land Tribunal and things like that, it is a long, drawn out 
process with all the stress that is incumbent on it.  We don’t object to the 
railway per se.  It has to go through, we have no argument with that but it is 
our quality of life we are looking at here. 

 
Assessor:  Miss Gorlov, could you just give a further explanation? 
 
Ms Gorlov:  Certainly.  The problem, as I understand it, is that having suffered the 

damage in the first place, the claims process is in itself distressing.  It is also 
not what any sensible compensation payout wants either, because long, 
drawn out claims are really no good for anybody’s health, and here Ms 
Gribben can probably help. 
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Assessor:  A suggestion has been made by the Clerk, and it might be quite useful.  
Generally, as I understand it, compensation is an extremely difficult legal 
minefield if I can put it that way.  Would it be possible for a step-by-step guide 
to be produced which might be made available to all objectors who might find 
themselves in a similar position?  It might give them some comfort.   

 
Ms Gribben:  Sir, I am happy to say that is something that we have anticipated.  

There is a document on the stocks.  As with a few other things, it is waiting for 
Alison and I to have a look at, and we aim to get it out in very short order after 
these Hearings.  

 
Assessor:  That would be extremely helpful.  Will it go on the website so that people 

like Assessors can have a look at it? 
A.  It certainly will. 
 
Q.  Thank you very much.  
A. There might be one thing which might provide some comfort in terms of the 

discussion which I had with Mr Mackie earlier on today.  The compensation is 
a necessary part of the process but we view it at Network Rail as an 
instrument of last resort.  We want to work with the residents to find a 
practical and pragmatic solution that takes account of your needs.  As I have 
said we will do all that we can to achieve that for you.  Compensation remains 
if that hasn’t proven to be the case, and I have confirmed today that by 
engaging in the mitigation process – not that I can provide direct legal advice 
- but it is clear to say that it does not impact on your ability to claim 
compensation, quite the reverse, it shows you have engaged with the 
process.  

 
Assessor:  So we have a three stage process, design at source, how work that can 

be done by way of mitigation, and then only as a last resort you go into 
compensation.  That compensation and the way in which you can go about it 
in the last resort, there will be a step-by-step guide provided.  That doesn’t 
take away the distress or the complication of it all, but hopefully it will be in 
the unlikely circumstances that you would have to go that third level.  Is that 
sufficient, Mr Donald? 

 
Mr Donald:  Can I make one comment? 
 
Assessor:  You can ask a question.  
A. I am only allowed to ask a question? 
 
Q. There are ways of getting comments in by asking questions. 
A. I have posed this one to somebody else.  Would you pay the same amount of 

value for a house with a railway at the bottom of it as you would a cycle path? 
 
Ms Gorlov:  That is a valuation question for the day when you get there.  The 

answer is I’m not a valuer and I don’t know.  
 
Mr Donald:  I have spoken to four estate agents in the town and they have all agreed 

that the value is likely to drop regardless of what is done there.   My own 
property, I cannot speak for everybody else’s, but mine runs adjacent with the 
line. 

 
Assessor:  Is that a compensation issue, Ms Gribben? 
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Ms Gribben:  It would be a compensation matter, yes.   
 
Assessor:  Can we move on to the next topic?  It is the fourth one and is in relation 

to the  
 
 cycle path.   
 
 Witnesses for the Promoter are the same.  Mr Lake? 
 
Mr Lake:  Again could I ask Ms Gribben, is the position as stated in the written 

evidence? 
 
Ms Gribben:  There is a particular update that relates to the cycle path and 

residents’ concerns regarding general nuisance issues which they have 
experienced with the cycle path.  This issue was brought to our attention 
during a meeting on the 16th and we offered to facilitate a discussion with the 
Local Authority and relevant officials.  This took place on Tuesday and Friday 
of last week, and it was going to be further dialogue on that particular issue. 

 
Assessor:  An opportunity if you wish to ask any questions? 
 
Mr Mackie:   This puts this slightly in the air as far as we are concerned.  We don’t 

wish to make any real statements.  We will have to wait until we get some 
decision from the County Council.  Councillor McGinty has initiated 
preliminary investigations into alternative routes for the cycle path.  Our next 
meeting is scheduled for a week on Friday, 9 February.  They will let us know 
their opinion.  Generally speaking, they are quite excited about that idea 
because some of them would tie in with local improvements that had been 
envisaged.  So we are hopeful, but my main concern is if they came back in  
decent time, in other words before this Bill goes to Parliament, and said they 
were going to build another cycle path, would that mean the piece of cycle 
path leading into Birniehill need not or would not be built? 

 
Assessor:   The final sentence there was in the form of a question which may be you 

can answer, Ms Gribben? 
 
Ms Gribben:  Yes, I can.  Perhaps I can clarify the discussion with the Local 

Authority in the answer.  As you will be aware, the residents have questioned 
one of the temporary access routes that has been referenced in and part of 
the discussion is whether it could be re-routed.  That is the discussion which 
is ongoing at the moment.  The Local Authority is considering whether the re-
routing might become a permanent rerouting that in itself might pinpoint to the 
land off the cycle path, and that is part of the general discussion that is being 
considered.  I have made it clear that if that was resolved prior to construction 
activity taking place and obviously if everyone was content with it, we would 
not need to construct the activities here.  But until this matter is resolved the 
Bill powers need to be referenced in. 

 
Assessor:  The Clerk is confirming my own understanding that even it is provided for 

on the Bill, it needn’t necessarily happen, it is simply provided for.   
A. Absolutely, sir.  I have made it clear that the fact that the powers have been 

included does not mean they have to be exercised.   
 
Q. Thank you very much.  Does that help? 
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Mr Mackie:  Yes indeed, it would also help Network Rail because they would not 
have that bit of the cycle path.  Everyone is a winner. 

 
Assessor:  Thank you very much, Mr Mackie.  The next topic is  
 
 pollution.   
 
 The witnesses are the same.  Mr Lake? 
 
Mr Lake:  The question is the same as well.  Can I ask Ms Gribben to indicate 

whether there has been any development on this beyond that stated in the 
written evidence? 

 
Ms Gribben:  No,  sir.  
 
Mr Lake:  We are resting on the written evidence in this respect. 
 
Assessor:  Thank you very much. Do you have any questions on this particular 

topic? 
 
Mr Mackie:  No, I have issues regarding pollution and health.  We didn’t treat either 

in our Group submissions as topics in their own right.  For instance, the 
effects in noise and health were addressed in noise and vibration.  That has 
already been dealt with.  Pollution from cycle path revellers is in the cycle 
path section.  We only had one tiny little thing as a last minute to try and 
make our submission tie in with the topics that are on this Agenda. I failed in 
that, sir.   

 
 All that I have in response is with reference to the responses to Group 31’s 

further evidence, that is reference our Question 6(f), that there wouldn’t be 
very much dust to pick up, and any dust or litter would only go about 50 
metres with the passing of the train.  If there is natural screening installed, 
then the gardens and houses within 50 metres will enjoy a great measure of 
protection which is good because I had only estimated 30 metres.   

 
Assessor:  So how would you like to take this forward? 
A. I’m quite happy with it.  What I am saying is they have given a better estimate 

than I had made myself.  If natural screening goes ahead, we don’t have any 
more issues with the dust and litter. 

 
Q. Perhaps I could be allowed a question just to complete my education on this 

matter, what effect can planting vegetation have on reducing dust levels and 
the effects on human health? 

 
Ms McLean:  It is not something that I have particular experience of, so I would 

simply hazard a guess that it would act as a natural screen and therefore 
absorb some of the dust before it gets as far as the residents’ properties 
which would be adjacent to the railway. 

 
Mr Mackie:  That is as we see it, sir. 
 
Assessor:  What I was probing for was how does this become factored into Network 

Rail’s assessment when considering whether to undertake planting?  I know 
you have decided so to do here, but it might be quite useful to know generally 
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if it is possible.  I recognise the appropriate witness may not be here, and the 
hour is late. 

 
Ms Gribben:  Sir, is that something that we could just answer in writing because I 

would need more input this afternoon? 
 
Assessor:  It would be quite helpful.  The 24-hour limit needn’t apply but as soon as 

is convenient. 
A. I will get it to you as soon as possible, sir.   
 
Q. I’m obliged to you, thank you very much.  If that’s all that is needed there we 

could move on to  
 
 health and safety. 
 
Mr Lake:  Thank you.  Ms Gribben, is there anything to add to the written evidence? 
A. No. 
 
Mr Mackie:  We have nothing to add. 
 
Assessor:  The next issue that I have is the acquisition of  
 

communal land  
 
and is the final topic, No. 7. 

 
Mr Lake:  Thank you, sir.  Ms Gribben, you have already indicated in response to a 

question by the Assessor there is some discussion with the Local Authority 
regarding the route of a temporary road? 

 
Ms Gribben:  That is correct.  
 
Q. Does that affect this question of the acquisition of communal land? 
A. No.   
 
Q. In any other respect has there been an update on the position regarding the 

communal land? 
A. It is as stated in the written evidence from the Promoter.   
 
Q. Thank you very much.   
 
Assessor:  Do you have any questions on this particular matter? 
 
Mr Mackie:  I think it has already been dealt with, with Karen Gribben’s statement.  

The Council and Network Rail both have interests in their alternative road 
proposal.  So if that road goes ahead our main concern would be the 
communal land of the daft bridge which they wouldn’t need to build.  The 
other thing is the cycle path, if the cycle path is not coming up that way it 
would not affect the garage site.  If either of these things goes ahead, then we 
are back to square one. 

 
Q. That is a simple statement.  You have had commitments on this and you are 

satisfied with them? 
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Mr Mackie: At the moment we have no decision on the cycle path from the 
Council, but the cycle path remains an unacceptable infringement to us.  We 
just don’t want it, we have had it before and it is nasty. 

 
Q. Thank you very much.  Mr Lake, do you have any questions before the 

witnesses exchange takes place? 
 
Mr Lake:  The only questions I would have are just to clarify exactly what the position 

is of the residents in relation to the issues. 
 
Assessor:  I think for the form we will do the exchange.  Thank you.   
 
[Witness change over]   
 

Thank you very much for taking up your positions.  The form is that we are in 
a position to hear oral evidence from Group 31, but I understand that we may 
be able to foreshorten matters.  So Mr Lake, would you go ahead? 

 
Mr Lake:  Thank you very much.  I’ll just ask the questions and if you could 

determine between you who is best able to answer them.  I would like to start 
with the issue of noise and vibration.  I want to clarify your response to the 
commitments that you have heard made by Network Rail this afternoon.  Are 
these sufficient to meet the concerns that you have raised in your objection? 

 
Mr Mackie:  Yes.  The only thing we had doubt on was that we wished to guarantee 

we are not jeopardising our rights to compensation should the measures fail. 
 
Q. You have heard the assurance given by Ms Gribben.  It is a matter of law that 

you are not prejudicing your position.  With that matter resolved, I stress I am 
not trying to catch you out here, I am just explaining the issue, does what has 
been said meet your concerns? 

A. What has been said meets our concerns, and we believe that the measures 
that are going to be effected will suffice.  

 
Q. I’m grateful for that.  The question might flow from that is in response to these 

proceedings, it is necessary for the Assessor to prepare a report in respect of 
each part of each objection that remains outstanding.  Are you seeking, 
nonetheless, to maintain your objection insofar as it relates to noise and 
vibration or in these circumstances can it be treated as withdrawn?  I stress I 
am not trying to catch you out here. 

A. In as much as we would like to be kept in dialogue until we ascertain the 
report is indeed something which is suitable to us, as well as suitable to the 
Promoter of course.  You could call it a partial withdrawal if you like.  I don’t 
know if that is on the cards.  We just wish to remain there to ascertain that we 
do get something which is suitable.  We will accept all logical things that 
Network Rail will say about asking for wrong things or anything like that. What 
has been described in general should suffice and be satisfactory, but we just 
wish to remain in dialogue with them.  

 
Assessor:  I understand your difficulty, believe me.  It seems to me though there is 

nothing that I can do to assist you further.  You are not looking for an 
amendment to the Bill.  You are looking for the Promoter to continue with its 
set of commitments to you? 
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A. Accepted, sir.  I think we should say at this point, if everybody is agreeable, 
that we withdraw the objection.  [Agreed]  We will withdraw objections from 
this issue.   

 
Q. You may be absolutely certain that myself first and then the Bill Committee 

are fully aware of the commitments that have been made and are enforceable 
as I understand it through the Bill.  Who can see the future, but we have done 
as much as can be done within this room at this time.  I am happy to accept 
that as a withdrawal if that is satisfactory.   

 
Perhaps you could move on to the other issues which at the moment are 
outstanding and I am sure Mr Lake is going probe those with you in a similar 
way. 

 
Mr Lake:  Thank you Sir.  In relation to the second issue loss of amenity including 

visual impact and privacy and loss of vegetation, my questions are really the 
same.  What you have heard from Network Rail and the commitments that 
have been made to you, are these sufficient to meet the concerns that you 
have raised in your objection? 

A. Yes, they are.  
 
Q. In that circumstance, may we take it that the objection in so far as it raises 

this issue is withdrawn? 
A. Could we hold an answer to that awaiting the decisions by West Lothian on 

the cycle path? 
 
Q. I think you’ve got the cycle path as a separate issue.  We will come to that as 

a second issue, it is No. 4. 
A. If you remember, not all the subject matter ties in wholly with anybody’s 

topics.  There are large privacy parts in the cycle path submission and until 
we have something on the cycle path we cannot withdraw the privacy part 
from that.  On the issue of rail-related privacy, we are happy. 

 
Assessor:  Please carry on, Mr Lake. 
 
Mr Lake:  I don’t wish to press that issue any further.  
 
Assessor:  I don’t think it can be taken any further.  We are trying to seek yet further 

comfort, but at this stage the mechanism escapes me.  We will note that that 
part is not withdrawn.  

 
Mr Lake:  The third issue is reduction in property value.  This one is a bit less clear.  

It is Mr Donald who had the queries about this.  Are you satisfied as to what 
you’ve heard meets your concerns? 

 
Mr Donald:  Not really, no.  I don’t know whether I should mention this, in your 

Compensation Code here you have the seven factors which are already 
listed.  They cover four of the senses, and the fifth one isn’t really catered for 
which is visual impact.  Most people in terms of compensation the visual 
impact  - 80p per cent of what we learn is through our eyes.  So how that can 
be omitted from the compensation code I can’t understand.  

 
Mr Lake:  I have no further questions in relation to that issue, sir. 
 
[Pause]  
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Assessor:  I understand your position, and again at this stage there is nothing 

further I can do.  Could I just wheel us back, if this is the right way to describe 
it, to you said couldn’t withdraw.  I assumed you could not withdraw Issue 2, 
but I was just wondering whether it was Issue 4, that is to say the cycle path 
which we are just coming up to, which is actually the sticking point?  I 
wondered if you would be able to withdraw from Issue 2, so that the focus 
was on Issue 4 which is the cycle path? 

 
Mr Mackie:  Can I understand from that then the issue of privacy on the cycle path 

can still stand as long as we say we will withdraw the objection on rail-related 
matters? 

 
Q. The matter is capable of resolution, It is a timing one isn’t it?  You don’t want 

to withdraw until you have seen further progress in that area?  Have I grasped 
this? 

A. You certainly have.   
 
Q. I wonder if I could invite you to withdraw Issue 2, but if we are focusing on 

Issue 4, you might want to help Mr Lake in a moment as to whether you are 
likely to withdraw from that? 

A. Issue 2 withdrawn. 
 
Q. I’m sorry to have taken it this away but I have become confused because the 

two seemed to have become conflated.  Perhaps we could go through them 
all and then have a review at the end.  Thank you Mr Lake. 

 
Mr Lake:  In relation to Issue No. 4, the cycle path, which we would now understand 

is including the privacy-related issue here, it is clear there has not been 
resolution between the parties and I wouldn’t propose to ask further questions 
in relation to that. 

 
Assessor:  I’m obliged.  Am I right in thinking this is the real issue? 
 
Mr Mackie: This objection must still stand. 
 
Q. I’m obliged to you for that.  It is just a clarification on my part.   
 
Mr Lake:  In relation to Issue No. 5 that is pollution, Mr Mackie, you explained this is 

something which not so much stands on its own but is related to the various 
other issues that have already been referred to? 

A. Correct.  
 
Q. Insofar as the cycle path related pollution,that might reasonably fall under 

heading No. 4? 
A. Yes. 
 
Q. Clearly if you have no free-standing pollution concerns or any concerns you 

have, have been addressed, can we take it you would be willing to withdraw 
the objection in so far as it relates to pollution? 

A. Yes. 
 
Q. I’m very grateful.  If I could turn then to Issue No. 6 which is entitled health 

and safety, I will start by asking the same question. I understand from your 
comments earlier that your concerns as to health and safety are not so much 
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free-standing but arise out of the other concerns that you have spelt out in 
your original objection? 

A. Again, if West Lothian County Council and Network Rail use the alternative 
proposed route, we have no objections. 

 
Q. So if all the issues as to health and safety are understood by everyone as 

falling under the cycle path issue, there is nothing else left that would have to 
be considered under Issue No. 6? 

A. Correct.   
 
Q. I would certainly accept on behalf of the Promoter that it be understood that 

the cycle path encompasses the health and safety issues, and if that was a 
common understanding that we all agree to, does that mean that Issue No. 6 
might be withdrawn? 

A. The cycle path and the alternative route.  The alternative route would 
definitely pose a pollution and health risk if the alternative road didn’t go 
ahead.  The communal land would be used for the daft bridge referred to 
earlier. 

 
Q. I don’t want to force you into saying anything here but under health and safety 

as well as the cycle path, you are also including the temporary road access 
issue? 

A. Yes.  
 
Q. On that basis that one isn’t covered by any of the other issues and has to 

remain.  
 
Assessor:  We can move to No. 7, thank you. 
 
Mr Lake:  Lastly on Issue 7, which is the acquisition of communal land, again is this 

something on which your concerns have been met or are they still 
outstanding? 

A. There weren’t any real objections on the temporary acquisition of land but 
only on the usage of it and that we will deal with on the alternative road, the 
usage of the temporary bridge/road. 

 
Q. I don’t want to try and put words into your mouth, but do you consider that 

your concerns as to the acquisition of communal land have been met so that 
you can withdraw, or are you not at the stage where you consider that they 
have been met so that you can withdraw? 

A. No, because that includes the section under which the alternative access 
road is within. 

 
Q. Sir, I have no further questions. 
 
Assessor:  We are in the position, if I am correct then, that we move to our closing 

submission from parties based on my understanding.  I will just go through 
this, that Numbers 1,2 and 5 are withdrawn, but Issues 3,4,6 and 7 are not at 
this stage?  Would the Objectors agree with this? 

A. That’s right.  
 
Q. You understand the approach here that Mr Lake will make a set of closing 

submissions on behalf of the Promoter, and you have the opportunity to have 
the last word joined together in lay language, for the benefit of the Bill 
Committee just exactly where you stand at this moment.   
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Closing Submissions 

 
Mr Lake:  Thank you very much, sir.  In relation to Issue No. 3, reduction in property 

value, provision is made within the Bill for compensation and is made in 
accordance with well-established rules.  Insofar as there is a reduction in 
property value caused by one of the physical factors enumerated in the 
Compensation Code it will addressed and will be paid.  It is, nonetheless, a 
commitment of the Promoter to avoid a situation where that occurs and that 
will have been apparent perhaps in response to the Issues of 1 and 2. It is 
hoped that the reduction in property value issue can be avoided so far as 
possible.  Insofar as it cannot there are provisions in the Bill, and in my 
submission no amendment is required or justified in the circumstances.  

 
 So far as the cycle path is concerned, in my submission what has been 

contemplated here is putting a cycle path along a public road, albeit it is 
accepted that at the end it is a cul-de-sac.  It is necessary in choosing the 
route of the cycle path to balance a number of interests.  Namely, that it be 
reasonably direct, attractive, the land take be minimised to avoid interference 
as far as possible with people’s property holdings, and there be consultation 
with the various bodies which take an interest in these matters. That having 
been undertaken, the route that is favoured in the Bill is that along Birniehill 
Avenue, and in my submission there is no significant detriment identified that 
would justify at this stage making an amendment to the Bill to reflect a 
different route.   

 
However, I do not lose sight of the fact that there are discussions ongoing 
with the Council to which the Promoter has lent some assistance to 
investigate whether or not another route might be brought forward in due 
course.  The timing issues here arise, as with anything else, that while there 
maybe opportunity for something to be developed in the future that could 
meet the concerns of absolutely everyone, for the time being, in my 
submission a change to the Bill provisions is not justified.  

 
 Turning to health and safety, issues have been raised in relation to the cycle 

path causing a health and safety risk. In my submission there is nothing in the 
evidence to substantiate the fact there would be any significant risk or 
significant detriment to the residents of Birniehill Avenue.  In addition, insofar 
as we have now that it is also to be taken to apply to the question of the 
temporary bridge and temporary structures, these must be constructed in 
accordance with the requirements of the Local Authority and in accordance 
with the various construction management plans referred to in the Code of 
Construction Practice.  In my submission, these adequately ensure the safety 
of the works so there is no justifiable concern that there will be any danger to 
health and safety, and that there is no detriment on that basis. 

 
 Lastly the acquisition of communal land.  This features in the objections of 

two witnesses: Ms Dugan has raised it as has Mr and Mrs Riddell.  At the 
moment land is acquired permanently, the communal land for construction of 
the cycle path, and the comments I have made in relation to the cycle path 
apply here also.  No change is justified at present, but it is relevant to note 
there is a proposal being taken forward to see what maybe achieved.   

 
Insofar as the question of the temporary road is concerned, again there are 
discussions ongoing, and in view of the need to accommodate a road while 
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works are being carried out to the bridge, and the safeguards will be in place 
as to the construction of a temporary road, and most importantly the fact that 
that is temporary, there is no significant detriment identified that would justify 
an amendment to the Bill.   

 
There is the further matter of Mr Ross and Miss Abbott, who I think I must 
also address their position in this submission.  There are two parts to the 
issues they raised, first, that there would be a drop in their property value 
arising from the relocation of Bathgate Station.  My submissions here are the 
same as those that have been made in relation to the question of reduction of 
property value generally, that there is an established law that considers when 
compensation is claimable, and that properly reflects the underlying policy as 
to when it ought or ought not to be made available.  Mr Ross and Miss Abbott 
will be able to consider whether or not they can apply for compensation there. 
I am not suggesting that there will be a claim but if there is not that is because 
the policy that underlies the formulation of the law has determined that it is 
not an appropriate one. 
 
The second concern is as to what would be put in place of the existing 
station.  In my submission all these concerns will be properly addressed by 
the local plan and the development control decisions of the Local Authority, 
and that is not a detriment which would justify an amendment for the 
purposes of the Bill.   
 

Assessor:  Thank you very much, Mr Lake.  Now Mr Mackie, you have an 
opportunity to make closing submissions, but only in those matters which you 
have decided are still at issue.  Just to remind ourselves those are Issues 
3,4,6 and 7. 

A. The matter of reduction in property value, we would like rest on the evidence 
that we have already put in our further evidence statement.  Not rest, ask you 
to reconsider these things, have a look at them and see if there is anyway 
that this 12-month after-opening rule could be changed at all.  Take my 
livelihood, for instance, if it became super noisy in Birniehill and I lost my job 
because of it - I am a music teacher - then I am out of work now, I am not out 
of work in 2011.  How does any compensation after 12 months help me?   

 
Q. I will review your evidence.  
A. The loss of view is not usually admissible, the point that Mr Donald was 

making earlier, and we would like somebody to have a look at that and see if 
that could be put in as a compensation factor.  That is most of the things on 
the reduction in property etc.   

 
The cycle path is in abeyance until West Lothian Council report back to us.  
The acquisition of communal land is also in abeyance until West Lothian 
Council and Network Rail get back to us.   

 
I would like to thank Scottish Parliament for making everything available to us 
to go through.  I would like to thank the Private Bills Unit for waiting to see us, 
and I would like to thank Network Rail for supplying mountains of documents 
for us to read, even for the ones that they were a wee bit late in sending.  And 
Assessor, sir, thank you very much indeed. 
 

Q. If thanks are due they should be extended also to you, Mr Mackie and your 
team.  We have talked a lot about engagement at these Hearings.  I don’t 
think there is any doubt that engagement has taken place between the 
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parties.  Perhaps this could continue into the future to this extent:  if you could 
keep the Clerk fully in touch with where you stand after the consultations with 
the Council have taken place.  Perhaps let him know in due course if these 
are sufficient to allow you to withdraw the remaining issues.   

 
I can only indicate on behalf of the Bill Committee something I said earlier on.  
All the commitments and undertakings of the Promoter will be attached to the 
Bill, and then it is the statement already made by the Bill Committee that is 
their intention that they become enforceable.   
 
That is as far as we can go today, and many thanks to you, Mr Lake and to 
your teams.   

 
 
[The Hearing concluded at 20.18pm] 
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